THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jun 17 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-001657  
Trial Court Case No. 2018CP4602502

---

Kimberly Ann Condra .....Appellant,

v.

Gregory Scott Childers and Jeffrey Steven Childers.....Respondents.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

June 17, 2021

s/ Lucy L. McDow  
SC Bar No. 3790  
P.O. Box 767  
Rock Hill, South Carolina 29731  
(803) 327-1700  
[LucyLMcDow@mcdowlaw.com](mailto:LucyLMcDow@mcdowlaw.com)  
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

**CONCERNING THE DEFENDANT GREGORY SCOTT CHILDERS:**

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY PLACE AN AFFIRMATIVE DUTY ON THE FRAUD AND NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION VICTIM TO CONFIRM THE RESPONDENT GREG CHILDERS' BUILDER'S LICENSE?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY RELY ON S.C. CODE ANN. §40-59-260 AS THE BASIS FOR IMPOSING A DUTY ON THE FRAUD AND NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION VICTIM TO CONFIRM THE RESPONDENT GREG CHILDERS' BUILDER'S LICENSE?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY FAILING TO APPLY A RECKLESS AND GROSSLY NEGLIGENT STANDARD TO DETERMINE THE REASONABLENESS OF THE FRAUD AND NEGLIGENT REPRESENTATION VICTIM'S RELIANCE?
4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO PROPERLY APPLY A "JUSTIFIABLE RELIANCE" STANDARD AND A PREPONDERANCE BURDEN OF PROOF TO THE VICTIM'S NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION CAUSE OF ACTION?
5. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY FIND THAT THE UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT PROHIBITS A VICTIM FROM RECOVERING DAMAGES FROM AN UNLICENSED BUILDER FOR AN UNFINISHED CONSTRUCTION JOB WHEN THE VICTIM HAS PREPAID THE BUILDER?

**CONCERNING THE DEFENDANT JEFFREY STEVEN CHILDERS:**

6. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING A DIRECTED VERDICT AS TO BOTH THE NEGLIGENCE AND BREACH OF THE UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT CAUSES OF ACTION TO THE LICENSED BUILDER WHO HAD ILLEGALLY ASSISTED IN THE CONSTRUCTION PROJECT THAT CAUSED THE APPELLANT'S DAMAGES?

***STATEMENT OF THE CASE***

Kimberly Ann Condra ("Condra"), the Appellant, initially brought this action on August 18, 2018, alleging fraud, negligent misrepresentation, and violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act (S.C. Code Ann. §39-5-10 et seq.: "the UTPA") against Gregory Scott Childers ("Greg Childers" or "Greg," in order to distinguish him from his co-defendant and

brother, Steve Childers). Condra alleged that Greg Childers was unlicensed and incompetent to do construction work and had deceived her to induce a contract to remodel her house, afterward abandoning the project after being paid \$52,000.

Greg Childers answered *pro se* by an Answer dated October 8, 2018. He failed to respond fully to discovery and two sanction orders were ordered against him, one by Special Circuit Judge Teasa Weaver on November 20, 2018, and one by Judge William A. McKinnon on February 19, 2019.

Condra amended her complaint on February 6, 2019, to add Greg Childers' brother, Jeffrey Steven Childers ("Steve Childers" or "Steve," to distinguish him from Greg Childers), as a defendant. Condra alleged negligence and violation of the UTPA against Steve Childers, a licensed South Carolina builder, based on Steve's illegal assistance in Greg's project.

Steve answered the amended complaint through counsel on March 28, 2019, and asserted a crossclaim against Greg. Greg answered the amended complaint through counsel on March 21, 2019, and replied to Steve's crossclaim on April 10, 2019.

Steve filed a motion for summary judgment on January 27, 2020. After a hearing, Judge Daniel D. Hall denied the motion by a Form 4 Order filed March 24, 2020.

Judge William A. McKinnon tried the case as a bench trial on August 20 and 21, 2020. At the conclusion of Condra's case, he orally dismissed her claims against Steve Childers by directed verdict, followed by a written Form 4 order filed September 22, 2020. Steve did not pursue his cross-claim against his brother.

Trial continued against Greg Childers, and following its conclusion and the submission of post-trial briefs, Judge McKinnon found by an order filed September 21, 2020, that Condra had

failed to prove any of her three causes of action against Greg. Judge McKinnon found that Condra's causes of action for fraud and negligent misrepresentation were barred by unreasonable reliance on Greg's pre-contract representations and that her UTPA cause of action was barred by her payment in full to Greg before he abandoned her project.

Condra filed a post-trial motion on September 30, 2020, followed by a corrected motion on October 2, 2020, seeking reconsideration and other post-trial relief as to both defendants. Following a hearing, on November 18, 2020, Judge McKinnon issued amended orders on December 7, 2020, separately denying reconsideration as to each defendant. This appeal was filed on December 16, 2020.

#### ***STANDARD OF REVIEW***

Condra's causes of action against each defendant are actions at law, tried by the Court alone. In a non-jury case the findings of fact will not be disturbed unless found to be without reasonable evidentiary support. *Townes Associates, Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976). An appellate court does not disturb the trial court's conclusions unless they are wholly unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an erroneous conception or application of the law. *Maddux Supply Co., Inc. v. Safhi, Inc.*, 316 S.C. 404, 406, 450 S.E.2d 101, 102 (Ct. App. 1994).

An appellate court, however, is free to review whether the trial court properly applied the law to undisputed facts; in such cases, the appellate court owes no particular deference to the trial court's legal conclusions. *J.K. Const., Inc. v. Western Carolina Regional Sewer Authority*, 336 S.C. 162, 166, 519 S.E.2d 561, 563 (1999). Further, questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law, which an appellate court is free to decide without any deference to the trial court *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville County Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011).

## *FACTS*

Condra bought her aged residence at 1497 Alexander Road in Rock Hill in 2016.<sup>1</sup> The house needed renovating and Condra, a single woman employed as a compliance officer for Wells Fargo, decided to remodel it.<sup>2</sup> Having attended a welcome seminar put on for new residents by the City of Rock Hill, she had learned from the segment on remodeling that she could remodel her home as her own general contractor under certain conditions.<sup>3</sup>

An explanation of terms is helpful. In this brief, as at trial, the terms “contractor,” “general contractor,” “builder,” and “residential builder” are sometimes used colloquially and interchangeably to refer to the person in overall charge of a construction project such as Condra’s remodeling. Statutorily, however, the terms have distinct definitions, depending on the licensing agency. For safety’s sake, construction work above a certain minor size and nature has to be supervised and performed by individuals tested, evaluated, and licensed to do so by one of two state regulatory agencies, the South Carolina Residential Builders Commission (the “SCRBC”) or the South Carolina Contractor’s Licensing Board (the “Contractor’s Board”). S.C. Code Ann. §§40-11-30; 40-59-20; and 40-59-30.

Generally speaking, a “residential builder” licensed by the SCRBC, is approved to supervise residential construction while a contractor or “general contractor” is approved by the Contractor’s Board to supervise complex commercial construction as well. S.C. Code Ann. §§40-11-20 and 40-59-30. Confusingly, both residential builders and general contractors are frequently referred to colloquially as “contractors.”

---

<sup>1</sup> ROA p. 33, lines 7-23; p. 132, lines 20-23.

<sup>2</sup> ROA p. 32, lines 10-12 and 20-21; p. 33, lines 7-25; p. 117, line 12 – p. 118, line 2.

<sup>3</sup> ROA p. 35, line 9 – p. 36, line 13.

To attenuate things further, a third agency, the South Carolina Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation (“SCLLR”) administers both the SCRBC and the Contractor’s Board through the SCLLR’s Division of Professional and Occupational Licensing. S.C. Code Ann. §40-1-40. As happened here, SCLLR is the overarching agency that actually investigates and enforces breaches of the SCRBC’s and Contractor’s Board’s license requirements.

Construction projects themselves, beyond certain minimal repairs and refurbishing, have to meet applicable standards of the current Building Code, as adopted by the South Carolina Building Codes Council. S.C. Code Ann. §6-9-5 et seq. Enforcement is delegated to local governments. *Id.* Construction projects must be registered with, permitted by, and inspected for compliance by the county or city building officials who administer the Building Code where the work takes place. S.C. Code Ann. §6-9-10 et seq. The local building officials are specifically charged with making sure in the permitting process that the residential builder or general contractor in charge is properly licensed, as are any subcontractors, who must also each be licensed to do certain discrete components of the work, such as electrical, plumbing, and HVAC work. *Id.* S.C. Code Ann. §40-59-280.

Licensed contractors and subcontractors themselves are also responsible for making sure the projects on which they work are being done by properly licensed and permitted professionals. They may be fined or have their own licenses revoked for ignoring that responsibility and assisting in an illegal project. S.C. Code Ann. §40-1-110(1): “A board may cancel, fine, suspend, revoke or restrict the authorization to practice of an individual who: . . . (c) has intentionally or knowingly, directly or indirectly, violated or has aided or abetted in the violation or conspiracy to violate this article or a regulation promulgated under this article;” . . . )

One exception is allowed for the project supervisor role. State law, S.C. Code Ann. §40-59-260, allows an unlicensed homeowner to act as his or her own supervisor for certain residential remodeling projects, while at the same time imposing conditions for that exemption. That statute's exemption applies only to homeowners doing renovations for their private use rather than to "flip" the house, and it further prescribes when a homeowner may claim the exemption. For Condra's house, S.C. Code Ann. §40-59-260 is administered by the City of Rock Hill's Planning and Development Department as part of its permitting authority.<sup>4</sup>

The City, as the statute specifies, requires an owner supervising his or her construction to obtain her own building permit from the City and to sign and file a prescribed Disclosure Statement. Although the owner herself does not have to be licensed, the statute requires that she use properly licensed subcontractors for the actual specialty work under her supervision. As with any building permit, the City must still approve the owner's plans and inspect and approve the resulting work.<sup>5</sup> To prevent the exemption from being misused, §40-59-260 imposes other restrictive conditions as well.

Condra, intending to act under that exemption, had an architect prepare her remodeling plans, which she submitted to the City.<sup>6</sup> She also identified to the City her intended licensed subcontractors for the initial work, which she called Phase 1.<sup>7</sup> The City approved her plans and granted her a building permit on April 21, 2017, to begin the specified remodeling and to act as her own supervisor.<sup>8</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> ROA p. 32, lines 5-9; p. 146, line 15 – p. 152, line 24.

<sup>5</sup> Id.

<sup>6</sup> ROA p. 34, lines 1-8, pp. 227-234.

<sup>7</sup> ROA p. 34, line 17- p. 35, line 21; p. 156, lines 3-5.

<sup>8</sup> ROA p. 35, line 9 – page 36, line 21; p. 155, lines 6-14; p. 434.

As the City required, Condra posted the issued permit in a window of her house.<sup>9</sup> Rock Hill’s Building Official Mike Nugent explained that having the permit visible tells city building inspectors driving by that some type of permit has been granted with regard to ongoing construction they observe.<sup>10</sup> It also makes the scope of the work available to subcontractors working there, who can read it to make sure that they are working on a job properly authorized under §40-59-260 or that the work has been permitted to a licensed residential builder as the supervisor.

After getting her exemption permit and starting her work, Condra realized within two months, however, that her intention of scheduling and supervising the remodeling work was impractical. Her work travel demands had increased, her inexperience in scheduling subcontractors hampered her, and she encountered an unsatisfactory framing workman.<sup>11</sup> Following the disappearance of jewelry from her house while the initial work was being started, Condra realized her plan to proceed as her own contractor was impractical.<sup>12</sup> She stopped the work and began looking about for a qualified, licensed builder to whom she could turn over the entire project.<sup>13</sup>

Acting on a referral from her masonry subcontractor, who referred to Greg Childers as a “good contractor,” Condra called “the good contractor” about doing a limited component of the project, the construction of her deck.<sup>14</sup> After Greg came to the house, though, she found him to be an “[e]xtremely charismatic, engaging person who “[c]onveyed a lot of knowledge about being a

---

<sup>9</sup> ROA p. 119, lines 13-19; p. 121, lines 14-21.

<sup>10</sup> ROA p. 159, p. 5-18.

<sup>11</sup> ROA p. 34, line 21 – page 35, line 8; page 36, line 24 – page 38, line 12.

<sup>12</sup> Id.

<sup>13</sup> ROA p. 37, line 23 – p. 39, line 4.

<sup>14</sup> ROA p. 39, line 5 – p. 40, line 7.

contractor” and “a lot of experience.”<sup>15</sup> He was “intelligent” and someone who knew how to instill confidence.<sup>16</sup> He stressed his honesty.<sup>17</sup>

Greg also represented himself to be qualified to take over the complete remainder of Condra’s project.<sup>18</sup> He inspected the house and reviewed the scope of the work.<sup>19</sup> He described himself as properly licensed with a longstanding relationship with the City building permit department and told her about his considerable construction experience working both for his father and for his brother Steve.<sup>20</sup>

He talked about Steve’s good reputation, later providing details of his own construction history with Steve, which Steve himself confirmed during post-contract conversations with Condra.<sup>21</sup> Greg additionally and accurately referred to Steve as a licensed residential builder.<sup>22</sup> Ultimately Greg submitted a sophisticated and itemized contract showing himself as “contractor” to finish Condra’s entire project for \$48,500.<sup>23</sup> He told her he would handle everything with the City.<sup>24</sup>

Condra verified on the Internet the existence of Greg’s father’s family construction business in North Carolina, where Greg had referenced some of his years of experience.<sup>25</sup> She was satisfied with the existence and history of the father’s business and with Greg’s

---

<sup>15</sup> ROA p. 39, line 15 – p. 40, line 7.

<sup>16</sup> ROA p. 52, lines 12-21.

<sup>17</sup> ROA p. 87, lines 13-19.

<sup>18</sup> ROA p. 39, line 15 – p. 42, line 11.

<sup>19</sup> ROA p. 42, lines 12-20.

<sup>20</sup> ROA p. 39, line 15 – p. 42, line 11; p. 90, lines 2-16.

<sup>21</sup> ROA p. 90, lines 2-16; p. 96, line 25 – p. 97, line 21.

<sup>22</sup> ROA p. 62, lines 1- 23, p. 90, lines 2-16; p. 100, lines 9-22; p. 106, lines 14 – 25.

<sup>23</sup> ROA p. 42, lines 12-23; pp. 235-250.

<sup>24</sup> ROA p. 42, lines 4-11.

<sup>25</sup> ROA p. 101, lines 5-15.

representations of his own extensive construction experience and license, as well as with the good relationship and experience he touted with Rock Hill’s building department.<sup>26</sup> She did not ask to see his residential builder’s license, nor did she verify his license online, testifying later that she was unaware at the time that license information was available on the Internet.<sup>27</sup>

Greg additionally stressed to her that he always carried liability insurance for his work because he knew how important it could be.<sup>28</sup> In addition, his own written contract, which described him as the “contractor,” but left blank the space for “License No.,” promised his commitment to “use reasonable care to meet the Requirements of state, federal and local law when discharging [his] responsibilities under this agreement.”<sup>29</sup>

He promised to “supervise and direct the Work” and accept “the responsibility for construction means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures required to complete the Project in compliance with the Contract Documents.”<sup>30</sup> He committed to begin work on June 26, 2017, the day following Condra’s signing and initial payment, and to substantially complete the work within 90 days, that is, by the end of September 2017.<sup>31</sup>

Greg’s own itemization of the work he proposed to perform evidenced that the project required electrical, plumbing, and HVAC work and would have to be permitted and inspected by the City.<sup>32</sup> His contract further confirmed his oral promise to carry liability insurance by reciting

---

<sup>26</sup> ROA p. 41, line 19 – p. 43, line 19; p. 47, line 4-p. 48, line 9.

<sup>27</sup> ROA p. 102, lines 1-18.

<sup>28</sup> ROA p. 41, line 22 – p. 42, line 3; p. 44, lines 10-16.

<sup>29</sup> ROA p. 235.

<sup>30</sup> Id.

<sup>31</sup> Id.

<sup>32</sup> ROA pp. 245, 247-248.

that he would carry “workers compensation insurance the public liability insurance as required by Law and regulation for the protection of Contractor and Owner during progress of the Work.”<sup>33</sup>

Except for an initial down-payment of \$24,250, Greg’s contract specified he was to be paid the balance in draws based on stages of completion.<sup>34</sup> Satisfied by the favorable reference from her brickmason, Greg’s recitation of his experience, his knowledge of City permitting, and his detailed contract, Condra signed on June 25, 2017.<sup>35</sup> Shortly afterward, she agreed for Greg to also replace her kitchen floor for an upcharge of \$3,500, bringing the total contract price for the entire completion of the project from \$48,500 to \$52,000, as reflected by Greg’s written change-order to that effect.<sup>36</sup>

Condra’s decision to relinquish her §40-59-260 exemption meant that Greg had to re-permit the project with the City by substituting himself as the licensed contractor-builder.<sup>37</sup> That included identifying his own licensed subcontractors, who, in turn, had to then obtain their own sub-permits from the City for the specialty work they subcontracted to do.<sup>38</sup> Mike Nugent, Rock Hill Building Official, testified that, while the owner is ultimately responsible to make sure a project is properly permitted, generally it is the licensed builder who handles the permitting directly with the City.<sup>39</sup>

Greg knew, however, when he solicited Condra’s work, proffered his contract, and assured her he would handle everything with the City, that he would not do any of that. He knew that he

---

<sup>33</sup> ROA p. 238.

<sup>34</sup> ROA p. 237.

<sup>35</sup> ROA p. 239.

<sup>36</sup> ROA p. 250.

<sup>37</sup> ROA p. 151, lines 10-21; p. 152, line 10 – p. 154, line 6.

<sup>38</sup> ROA p. 150, line 22 – p. 151, line 9.

<sup>39</sup> ROA p. 152, line 25 – p. 153, line 3; p. 153, line 20 – p. 154, line 2.

could not and would not comply with the contract or his promises. He had no builder's license or license of any type, and therefore knew he could obtain no permit for the project.<sup>40</sup> S.C. Code Ann. §40-59-280. His explanation was that he meant to get his license, but that he got held up by his brother Steve not giving him a timely trade reference for the application.<sup>41</sup> He also testified that he started the license application process but just never got around to taking the required test.<sup>42</sup> In fact, Greg, by his own admission, never had a license and never got a license of any type.<sup>43</sup>

Greg also knew his purported take-over of Condra's project would be a criminal act under S.C. Code §40-1-200 ("A person who practices or offers to practice a regulated profession or occupation in this State in violation of this article . . . is guilty of a misdemeanor . . .") and §40-59-200 ("A person who knowingly violates the provisions of this article [Article 1. Residential Home Builders Generally] or regulations promulgated pursuant to this chapter is guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, must be fined not more than one thousand dollars or imprisoned for not more than two years, or both.")

He further knew that no other licensed builder and no licensed subcontractor would work for him on Condra's project because doing so would jeopardize the licensed person's own SCRBC license (S.C. Code Ann. §40-1-110(1): "A board may cancel, fine, suspend, revoke or restrict the authorization to practice of an individual who: . . . (c) has intentionally or knowingly, directly or indirectly, violated or has aided or abetted in the violation or conspiracy to violate this article or a regulation promulgated under this article;". . .)

Further, even as Greg was touting his insured status to Condra and she was signing his

---

<sup>40</sup> ROA p. 148, line 9 – p. 149, line 1; p. 151, lines 10-21.

<sup>41</sup> ROA p. 62, lines 12 – 23; p. 195, line 25 – p. 196, line 3.

<sup>42</sup> ROA p. 195, line 25 – p. 196, line 3; p. 212, lines 3-9.

<sup>43</sup> ROA p. 212, lines 3-9.

contract on June 25, 2017, he knew he had already received a notice dated June 15, 2017, that his commercial general liability insurance was being cancelled effective July 3, 2017 for nonpayment.<sup>44</sup> He knew cancellation was pending while he was touting his “always-insured” status to Condra.<sup>45</sup> He further knew he was financially shaky, with at least one outstanding unpaid judgment already on his record.<sup>46</sup>

Condra, in ignorance of all of this, signed Greg’s contract on June 25, 2017.<sup>47</sup> She paid him the \$24,250 downpayment in two installments on June 23 and 27, 2017.<sup>48</sup> After work began, Greg dodged producing the replacement permit by telling Condra to leave her former permit in her window while he decided whether he would continue to use the same subcontractors the City had approved for her permit; later he used the excuse that his initial work was not the type that required a permit.<sup>49</sup> He began demolition of the parts of the house that were to be replaced.<sup>50</sup> On July 28, 2017, Condra paid him the \$3,500 additional charge for the kitchen-floor change-order.<sup>51</sup>

In the little actual construction that took place after demolition, Steve Childers appeared from mid-July to mid-August of 2017.<sup>52</sup> Together with a crew Steve supervised, he did some demolition work, began replacing hardwood flooring and windows, did some masonry work, and

---

<sup>44</sup> ROA p. 203, line 22 – p. 207, line 9; pp. 406-409.

<sup>45</sup> Id.

<sup>46</sup> ROA p. 201, lines 10-11; p. 201, line 17 – p. 203, line 6; pp. 404-405.

<sup>47</sup> ROA p. 42, lines 21-23; p. 43, lines 16-19; pp. 235-250.

<sup>48</sup> ROA p. 50, lines 1-25; pp. 251-252.

<sup>49</sup> ROA p. 47, lines 4-21; p. 92, line 25 – p. 93, line 20; p. 112, line 11 – p. 113, line 7.

<sup>50</sup> ROA p. 49, lines 11-25.

<sup>51</sup> ROA p. 253

<sup>52</sup> ROA p. 48, line 18 – p. 49, line 10; p. 89, lines 5-9.

added an attachment for the deck.<sup>53</sup> Much of that work was not completely finished, but Condra saw that it moved the project forward.<sup>54</sup>

For the weeks Steve and his crew were there, Condra observed that the crew worked exclusively under Steve's supervision and Greg himself only rarely appeared.<sup>55</sup> She also observed that when Greg did appear, he deferred to Steve and sought his advice.<sup>56</sup> Despite her prior dealings with Greg alone, Greg and Steve appeared to her to be partners in the work.<sup>57</sup>

Condra herself also told Steve at that point about having tried and failed to be her own contractor under the exemption.<sup>58</sup> Even after that conversation, Steve never asked her about, or asked to see, the current permit for the project.<sup>59</sup> He told her about Greg having previously worked for him but never mentioned that Greg was unlicensed or that both he and Greg were doing Condra's work illegally.<sup>60</sup>

In August, as Steve and his crew worked but progress otherwise began to stall, Greg persuaded Condra it resulted from his financial pressures.<sup>61</sup> He persuaded her to pay him an additional \$15,000 on August 11, 2017, even though the completion stage specified by the contract

---

<sup>53</sup> ROA p. 48, line 18 – p. 49, line 10; p. 50, line 23 – p. 51, line 6; p. 53, lines 9-22; p. 87, line 20 – p. 90, line 1.

<sup>54</sup> ROA p. 48, line 18 – p. 49, line 10.

<sup>55</sup> ROA p. 91, line 10 – p. 92, line 4.

<sup>56</sup> ROA p. 89, lines 10-23; p. 91, line 10 – p. 92, line 4.

<sup>57</sup> ROA p. 91, lines 10-21.

<sup>58</sup> ROA p. 92, lines 22-24.

<sup>59</sup> ROA p. 93, line 25 – p. 94, line 19.

<sup>60</sup> ROA p. 96, line 25 – p. 98, line 9.

<sup>61</sup> ROA p. 50, line 1 – p. 51, line 18; pp. 254-255.

had not been reached.<sup>62</sup> Even with that payment made, construction then essentially stopped and never resumed.<sup>63</sup> After mid-September, Greg became evasive and unresponsive.<sup>64</sup>

The work that had begun ended after some sporadic stabs and mistakes and Greg again pleaded financial need in order to finish.<sup>65</sup> Reassured by the actual construction work Steve Childers and his crew had partially done by that point, Condra decided to pay Greg the remaining \$9,250 of the contract price on September 15, 2017, despite the inadequate overall percentage of completion.<sup>66</sup>

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