RECEIVED

Jun 18 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001657
Trial Case No. 2018-CP-46-02502

Kimberly Ann Condra.....Appellant,

v.

Gregory Scott Childers and Jeffrey Steven Childers.. Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

June 18, 2021

s/James W. Boyd
SC Bar No. 824
Post Office Box 36425
Rock Hill, SC 29732
(803) 328-2600
jamesboyd@comporium.net
Attorney for the Respondent
Gregory Scott Childers

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. WAS THE LOWER COURT'S FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT DID NOT REASONABLY RELY ON THE RESPONDENT GREGORY CHILDERS' MISREPRESENTATIONS SUPPORTED BY THE TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE AT TRIAL?

II. APPELLANTS RELIANCE ON GREG CHILDERS MISREPRESENTATION WAS NOT JUSTIFIABLE.

III. DID THE UNLAWFUL TRADE PRACTICES ACT APPLY TO THE FACTS OF THE CASE?

FACTS

In 2017, the Appellant decided to remodel her home. She decided to act as her own supervisor for the project pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §40-59-260. She had an architect prepare building plans (R. p. 34 lines 1-8, Pl. ex. 1). The City of Rock Hill approved her plans. The City issued her a building permit on April 21, 2007 allowing her to act as her own supervisor (R. p. 35, lines 9-10, line 21; p. 155, lines 6-15; Def. Exhibit 8B R p.434). Appellant posted the permit in a window of her home (R. p. 120, lines 3-5, p. 121, lines 14-18). Acting as her own supervisor did not work out for the Appellant so she decided to hire someone to perform the job. Appellant met with Respondent, Greg Childers, who she testified told her he was properly licensed (R. p.39, line 15 to p. 42, line 11). Appellant further testified that Greg Childers told her he had liability insurance (R. p. 41, line 22, p. 42 line 3, p. 44, lines 10-18). Appellant entered into a written contract with Greg Childers on June 25, 2017 (R. p 122, lines 12-14). Greg Childers started work on the house but never completed the work. During the time Greg Childers worked on the property the permit that Appellant had received from the City remained posted on the property (R. p. 125, lines 3-13).

I. THE TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE AT TRIAL REASONABLY SUPPORTS THE LOWER COURT'S FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT DID NOT HAVE A RIGHT TO REASONABLY RELY ON, RESPONDENT, GREG CHILDERS MISREPRESENTATIONS.

“In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the finding of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge’s findings.” *Townes Associates, Ltd. V. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E. 2d 773 (1976). The judge’s findings are equivalent to a jury’s findings in a law action. *Chapman v. Allstate Insurance Co.*, 263 S.C. 565, 211 S.E 2d 876 (1974).

In order to establish a cause of action for fraud, nine elements must be proven. The element in question in this case is the Appellant’s right to rely on the misrepresentation of the Respondent, Greg Childers. The failure to prove any of the nine elements of fraud is fatal to a claim of fraud, *Schnellmann v. Roettger*, 373 S.C. 379, 645 S.E. 2d 239 (2007). Therefore if Appellant failed to prove she had right to rely on Respondent, Greg Childers, alleged misrepresentations then her claim of fraud must fail. If there is evidence that reasonably supports the lower Court’s finding that her reliance was not reasonable, then this Court should affirm the Trial Court.

There is evidence in the record which supports the trial judge’s finding that Appellant’s reliance was not reasonable. Appellant obtained the initial permit for the project (Tr. p. 98, lines 5-8). Appellant applied for the permit under *S.C. Code Ann. § 40-59-260. Section 40-59-260* required Appellant to sign a disclosure statement that provided in part: “You may not hire an unlicensed person as your residential builder or specialty contractor. It is your responsibility to make sure people employed by you have licenses required by state law and by county or municipal licensing ordinances.”(S.C. Code Ann. § 40-59-260 (C)). Appellant signed the

disclosure statement. At trial, Appellant called Mike Nugent, Rock Hill Building Official, who testified that the disclosure statement tells the world that she is responsible for the work (R. p. 161, lines 4-8). He further testified that it is up to the person who is self-contracting to check to make sure the person is licensed and to come to the City to get an amendment to the permit to include the new person (R. p. 162 lines 11-16). As long as the permit is on the property the person is representing that the facts of the permit are still in effect (R. p. 163, lines 8-12). The permit that Appellant obtained remained on her property the entire time that Respondent, Greg Childers, worked on the property (R. p. 127, lines 15-25). The Appellant knew the permit was on her property and knew it had not been replaced by another permit (R. p. 125, lines 3-13). Appellant knew her permit was still there when she paid Greg Childers \$3,500.00 in July, (R. 52, lines 7-8) and \$9,250.00 on September 15 R. p. 52, lines 22-25). As the trial judge stated, “So any work done on the house was either done pursuant to that permit where she had an obligation to verify that everyone is licensed or it was not done pursuant to permit at all.” (R. p. 486, lines 14-17). Appellant’s actions in failing to check whether Respondent, Greg Childers, was licensed when it was obvious he had not obtained a permit was reckless. The Appellant could have checked whether or not Greg Childers was licensed by requesting he show her the license or by checking the public records online. There is no liability when the truthfulness of the representations are easily within reach and can be ascertained by the exercise of due diligence. *Schnellmann v. Roettger*, 368 S.C. 17 627, S.E. 2d 742 (Ct. App. 2006), *O’Shields v. Southern Fountain Mobile Homes, Inc.* 262 S.C. 276, 204 S.E. 2d 50 (1974), *Founders v. Price* 190 S.C. 392, 3 S.E. 2d 38 (1939). Where there is no confidential or fiduciary relationship in an arm’s length transaction between mature, educated people, there is no right to rely. *Florentine Corporation v. Peda I, Inc.* 387 S.C. 382, 339 S.E. 2d 112 (1985). In this case no confidential or

fiduciary relationship existed between the parties. This was an arm's length transaction. The Appellant is well educated. She has a bachelor's of science degree in marketing and an M.B.A (R. p. 118, lines 8-12). She had worked in the banking industry her entire career and is a compliance officer for Wells Fargo (R. p. 117, lines 16-25). Taking into consideration her education and experience she was not acting with due diligence in failing to check the truthfulness of the representations.

The Appellant cites *J.B. Colt, Co. v. Britt*, 129 S.C. 226, 123 S.E. 2d 845 (1924) for the proposition that reckless or conscious disregard of ones duty to protect one's own interest is the standard for failure to exercise reasonable reliance. In that case the Court noted the defendant was a successful and experienced business man, in full possession of his faculties dealing in an arm's length transaction. The Court noted the law imposed on him a duty to exercise reasonable prudence. In the present case the Appellant is a successful and experienced business person, in full possession of her faculties. She had a duty to exercise reasonable prudence to determine that Greg Childers was licensed. In *Britt*, the Supreme Court found that the Court did not err in directing a verdict against the defendant. Even if the Court had been in error in directing a verdict, it would still have been a jury issue as to whether or not the defendant acted with reckless or conscious disregard of his own interests. In the present case the trial judge's findings were the equivalent of a jury's findings. The trial judge set forth the factor he properly considered in his Order. The testimony and evidence reasonably supports the trial judge's findings.

II. APPELLANTS RELIANCE ON GREG CHILDERS MISREPRESENTATION WAS NOT JUSTIFIABLE.

As stated earlier in this brief, Appellant's reliance on Greg Childers representation that he was a licensed builder was not justifiable when she had a duty under the law to make sure the people working under her permit were licensed.

The Appellant failed to prove that Greg Childers misrepresented the status of his liability insurance. Appellant entered into evidence a notice of cancellation (Pl. Ex. 16 R. p.406). The notice stated that the insurance would be cancelled effective July 3, 2017. The contract between the parties was entered in June of 2017 (R. p. 223, line 25, to p.223, line 24). At the time the contract was entered Greg Childers had liability insurance and Appellant offered no proof that the insurance was in fact cancelled on July 3, 2017.

III. THE UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT DOES NOT APPLY TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

The Appellant does not correctly state the trial court's ruling. The Appellant states that, "the trial judge erroneously found that the Unfair Trade Practices Act prohibits a consumer from recovering damages from an unlicensed builder for an abandoned and unfinished construction job where the consumer has prepaid the builder," (Appellant's Brief Argument V). The trial judge did not rule that the UTPA prohibits a consumer from recovering damages in this situation. The Court ruled that UTPA does not apply to a cause of action under the facts of this case, not that UTPA prohibits recovery. Appellant was not prohibited from seeking recovery under other causes of action, such as breach of contract.

In order to establish a UTPA violation the Appellant must establish that Greg Childers committed an unfair or deceptive act. Appellant contends, “what makes it unfair and deceptive is he wasn’t licensed,” (R. p. 478, lines 7-8). In *Lenz v. Walsh*, 362 S.C. 603, 608 S.E. 2d 471 (Ct. App. 2005) the Court held that there is no cause of action against a contractor for performing unlicensed work. As the trial judge stated, “if there is no claim under South Carolina Law for single damages, there’s no claim for single damages, there’s no claim for treble damages under an unfair trade practice,” (R. p. 487, lines 10-13).

Even if there was an unfair or deceptive act the Appellant seeks damages for work done while the Plaintiff was doing work under her permit and she knew he had not obtained a permit. Appellant allowed Greg Childers to work on her home when she knew or should have known she was in violation of S.C. Code Ann. §40-59-260. Appellant should not be allowed to be compensated for her own violation of the law.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, the decision of the Trial Court should be affirmed.